1978

Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant seeks a judicial determination of his right to continue to operate an outdoor advertising sign.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Second District Court, the Honorable Thornley K. Swan presiding, dismissed Defendant-Appellant's appeal from the decision of the Utah Transportation Commission as not being timely.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Defendant-Appellant seeks to have his appeal reinstated in the Lower Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nine months after a hearing before Commissioner Charles Ward of the Utah Transportation Commission on December 9, 1976, the Commission as a whole adopted a resolution declaring Defendant-

Appellant's signs to be in violation of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act. Twenty-five days after notice of this action, on October 25, 1977, Defendant-Appellant filed his appeal in the Second District Court. That Court granted Plaintiff-Respondent's motion to dismiss on the grounds that Defendant-Appellant's appeal was not timely.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS APPEAL DUE TO APPELLANT'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE 30-DAY FROM NOTICE OF DECISION RULE EXPRESSLY ADOPTED BY THE UTAH DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION.

The sole issue before this court is whether or not a notice of appeal filed 25 days from Appellant's receipt of the decision of the Utah Transportation Commission complies with the letter and spirit of Utah law and will afford Appellant the opportunity to have his legal rights adjudicated by a court of law. Both this court and the Utah Department of Transportation have said it does.

In a recent case interpreting the right to appeal from the decision of the Transportation Commission, NATIONAL ADVERTISING CO. v. UTAH STATE ROAD COMMISSION, 26 U. 2d 132, 486 P. 2d 383 (1971), this court found that Rule 81(d) U.R.C.P. applied in determining the period in which an appeal can be taken from a decision of the Transportation Commission. Rule 81(d) provides that:

"These Rules shall apply to the practice and procedure in appealing from or obtaining a review of any order, ruling or other action of an administrative board or agency, except insofar as the specific statutory procedure in connection with any such appeal or review is in conflict with these Rules."

Due to the qualifying language in the last sentence and the fact that the Legislature amended Section 27-12-136.9 U.C.A. (1953) which provides the procedure for appeal from the Transportation Commission, it might be argued that Rule 81(d) no longer applies. This deserves close scrutiny.

Previous to the amendment by the Legislature, Section 27-12-136.9 did not specify any time limit within which a party would have to appeal. It now reads as follows:

"The decision of the commission may be appealed to the District Court in the county in which the sign is located. . . Appeals shall be taken within 30 days of the commission's decision by filing a notice of appeal and sending a copy of the notice to the commission."

This new language at the end arguably restricts the time to appeal to a 30-day period commencing with the decision of the commission. If this is so, then Appellant's appeal would have been late. However, the Transportation Commission itself has answered this argument in their Rules adopted under the Utah Administrative Rules Act. The Utah Transportation Department Regulations A88-30-1:14c dealing with appeals from hearing decisions contains the following language:

"Notice of appeal from the Commission decision to the District Court for review shall be in writing and a copy of the Notice of Appeal shall

be sent to the Director of the Utah Department of Transportation postmarked or filed prior to the 30th day from the Commission findings, conclusions and decision, and as provided in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 81(d). (Emphasis added.)

Herein the Commission has expressly adopted the holding in National Advertising and thereby made themselves subject to the holding of this court relative to the interpretation of those rules. The only remaining question is whether or not the Rules of Civil Procedure dictate a different rule from the 30-days from decision interpretation.

In the Brief filed by the Attorney General's Office in support of their motion to dismiss Appellant's appeal in the District Court it is conceded that where the Rules of Civil Procedure do apply, that Rule 73(h) is that rule in that it provides for appeals from lower tribunals to district courts. Appellant concedes that this is the proper interpretation. That Rule provides:

"An appeal may be taken to the district court from a final judgment rendered in a city court within one month after notice of the entry of such judgment. . ."

Although the language is clear, this court expressly interpreted this language in BUCKNER v. MAIN REALTY & INS. CO., 4 U. 2d 124, 288 P. 2d 786 (1955), and found that it required a 30-day from notice appeal time. Given the application of this section to the appeal in question, Appellant's appeal filed 25 days from receipt of notice was timely, and the district court had jurisdiction to hear this appeal.

POINT II

IN THE ALTERNATIVE TO POINT I, THIS COURT SHOULD ANNOUNCE A RULE OF LIBERAL INTERPRETATION WITH REFERENCE TO APPEALS FROM ADMINISTRATIVE BODIES.

In a dissenting opinion in, MARSH v. UTAH HOMES, INC., 17 U. 2d 248, 408 P. 2d 906 (1965), Chief Justice Crockett stated the following:

"One of the purposes of our new Rules of Civil Procedure was to eliminate rigidities which had become engrafted into procedure and to provide some degree of liberality where that is necessary to effectuate justice."

He further stated that:

"I am both aware of and committed to the advisability generally of orderliness of procedure by adhering to rules. Nevertheless, it seems to me that it is often a mistake to attempt to see all of the law in the strict and literal application of one single statute, particularly where it results in depriving a party of a legal right or an opportunity to have it adjudicated, whereas, following other provisions of the law would avoid such an arbitrary result."

In the case of ADAMSON v. BROCKBANK, 112 U. 52, 185 P. 2d 264 (1947), this court held that the right to appeal is such a valuable right and that it is presumed to be available. As such it would be manifestly unjust for this court to deny Appellant's right to have his day in court when the path to allow this right is so clear and will only be lost if this court adopts a strained and restrictive reading of the relevant language. A liberal construction is also required by virtue of Section 68-3-2 U.C.A.

(1953)

As mentioned earlier, Rule 73(h) U.R.C.P. provides for the procedure for appealing to the district courts. When compared with Rule 73(a) which deals with appeals to this court, it becomes clear that a less restrictive rule was intended. In Rule 73(a) a strict 30-day from decision rule is applied, but provision is made for relief from that strict rule due to excusable neglect. In recognition of the differences between appeals from district courts and that from less structured and formal bodies, namely the lack of dockets and the predictability of the time when a decision will be reached, Rule 73(h) adopts a 30-day from notice rule, thereby guaranteeing the losing party at least 30 days in which to perfect his appeal. Given the likewise informal procedure before the Transportation Commission there is certainly no reason to restrict the right to appeal even more harshly than that from the District Court by requiring a 30-day from decision rule and not providing any relief for failure to learn of the decision.

The facts surrounding the present case and the general procedure of the Transportation Commission underscore the need for flexibility and a liberal interpretation. As mentioned previously, it was a full nine months from the time the hearing was held before Commissioner Ward and the decision of the Commission. During that time Appellant had no way of knowing when the decision would be rendered. According to the

Commission Secretary, Ronald A. Fernley, the procedure for adopting a decision is as follows. The Commissioner who heard the case drafts a resolution which is considered by the Commission as a whole and either adopted or rejected. This decision is then forwarded to the division which supervises this area. This department then prepares the order and notifies the owner of the signs. In the present case it took nearly 14 days from the date of the decision before Appellant was notified. Given the complicated procedure outlined, this was likely very quick action and it is entirely possible that a given person would never learn of the decision until his right to appeal had run and if the statute is read restrictively the right to appeal would have been lost for failure to take independent steps to learn of the Commission's actions. Such action would be extremely difficult, however, since the decisions of the Commission are not published in any newspaper of general circulation and the Commission itself does not maintain any docket of its decisions. In the present case, the sign owner, who, by the way, was the only person notified, looked at the date of the letter notifying him of the decision, September 26, 1977, and mistakenly read the date of the decision, September 16, 1977, to be one and the same; thereby leading to the unfortunate and time-consuming process we are currently engaged in.

It is certainly apparent that the argument for greater flexibility applies with great force in the context of administrative hearings and post-hearing procedure. We are not dealing here with a court where the post-trial procedures are well defined and predictable, but rather with an area where the Legislature intended that matters be handled informally, thereby allowing the parties to iron out their differences without formal motions and rules.

Given the confusion and need for flexibility this court should hold that Appellant's appeal was timely and reinstate it in the District Court.

CONCLUSION

By virtue of the clear application of Rule 73(h) and the 30-day from notice rule therein announced when coupled with the inherent need for flexibility in hearing and post-hearing procedure when dealing with administrative bodies, this court should find that an appeal filed 25 days from the date of notice of the decision of the Utah Transportation Commission was timely and reinstate this appeal in the District Court.