1978

Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a determination by the District Court that it lacked jurisdiction to hear an appeal from a decision of the Utah Transportation Commission that two outdoor advertising signs owned by Appellant were illegally erected and would be removed.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Second District Court, the Honorable J. Duffy Palmer, Judge, dismissed Appellant's appeal for the reason that the appeal was not timely filed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a ruling of this Court affirming the decision of the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A hearing was held before Commissioner Charles Ward of the Utah Transportation Commission in December of 1977 as to the status of two outdoor advertising signs owned by Appellant. On September 16, 1977, the Transportation Commission issued its findings, conclusions, and decision in the matter, finding that the signs were unlawful and ordering that they be removed. Appellant subsequently filed a notice of appeal, dated October 20, 1977, with the Second District Court, also requesting a trial de novo in the matter. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

Following oral argument and the submission of memoranda of points of law by both parties, the District Court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order on January 24, 1978, dismissing the appeal because it was not timely filed. The present appeal to this Court followed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT IT LACKED JURISDICTION TO HEAR APPELLANT'S APPEAL IN THIS MATTER, BECAUSE APPELLANT'S NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS FILED MORE THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE DECISION OF THE STATE TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION IN THE MATTER, CONTRARY TO SECTION 27-12-136.9, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED.

U.C.A. 27-12-136.9, a section of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, provides that the owner of an illegal outdoor advertising sign may request an administrative hearing before the Utah Transportation Commission, "to show cause why the sign should not be removed." An appeal may be taken from the Commission's determination, as further provided in U.C.A. 27-12-136.9:

The decision of the commission may be appealed to the district court in the county in which the sign is located. The court shall sustain the decision of the commission if it is supported by substantial evidence as shown by the records, exhibits and transcripts. If there is no appeal from the commission's decision or if the commission's decision is affirmed, the sign owner, landowner, or occupant of the land shall be liable for all costs incurred by the

commission, including the transcript fees. Appeals shall be taken within 30 days of the commission's decision by filing a notice of appeal and sending a copy of the notice to the commission. (emphasis added).

The statute clearly indicates that the deadline for filing an appeal from a decision of the Commission falls thirty days from the decision, not thirty days from the receipt of the notice of decision by the appellant. The statutory language is unambiguous, and is therefore not susceptible to statutory construction or interpretation aimed at making it say what it does not. Appellant has conceded that its notice of appeal was filed more than thirty days after the Commission's decision in the matter (Appellant's Brief, page 6) and that it received notice of the Commission's decision well within the thirty-day period, that is, "nearly 14 days from the date of the decision..." (Appellant's Brief, page 7). Failure to file a notice of appeal in a timely manner is a jurisdictional defect, and the District Court correctly ruled that it lacked jurisdiction to hear Appellant's appeal in the matter.

Decisions of this Court have repeatedly approved the principle that deadlines for initiating appellate review are not mere technicalities which may be ignored by the courts and that the failure to meet such deadlines is a jurisdictional defect which will result in dismissal of the attempted appeal.

For example, in Anderson v. Anderson, 3 Utah 2d 277, 282 P.2d 845 (1955), an appeal from a denial to vacate a contempt order was dismissed, because the notice of appeal was not filed with the district court until one day beyond the one-month limit for notice of appeal which applied in that case. In re Estate of Ratliff, 19 Utah 2d 346, 431 P.2d 571 (1967), this Court declined to entertain an appeal from a denial of a motion for new trial, because the proper filing fee was not paid within the one-month deadline, and therefore the appeal was not timely filed. Similarly, in Watson v. Anderson, 29 Utah 2d 36, 504 P.2d 1003 (1973), the Court refused to hear an appeal from a denial of motion for new trial where the appeal was not timely filed. In unlawful detainer actions, the Court has also refused to hear appeals filed after the ten-day period set by statute for such filings, e.g., Coombs v. Johnson, 26 Utah 2d 8, 484 P.2d 155 (1971); Vickery v. Kaiser, 556 P.2d 502 (Utah, 1976).

Courts in numerous other jurisdictions have recognized the principle that failure to comply with the time limit for filing an appeal is a fatal jurisdictional flaw, and have ruled that this principle applies with equal force to appeals from determinations of administrative bodies. For example, in Hollywood Circle, Inc. v. Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, 153 Cal App. 2d 523, 314 P.2d 1007 (1957), cert. den. 356 U.S. 902, 78 S.Ct. 562 (1958), the Court ruled

that a state appeals board had no jurisdiction to review an administrative decision where the appeal was mailed one day beyond the statutory forty-day period allowed for taking such an appeal. The Court stated:

The general policy of our law is not unfavorable to judicial review of administrative proceedings. But it is the policy of our law that time limits for filing notices of appeal in all legal proceedings must be complied with literally and exactly. This is generally held to be a jurisdictional prerequisite. (Citations omitted).

This court can see no reason why appeals in administrative tribunals should be governed by any other rule.
Id. at 1009.*

In Butler v. Insurance Department, 6 Ore.App. 241, 487 P. 2d 103 (1971), the court similarly denied the petitioner's right to judicial review of an administrative determination, for failure to file a petition for review within the statutory sixty-day period. In Varnes v. Lentz, 30 Ill.App. 3d 806, 332 N.E. 2d 639, 642-3 (1975), the Court stated that the 35-da

* Another holding of the Hollywood Circle case, that a section of the California Code of Civil Procedure dealing with service by mail did not apply to administrative proceedings, was subsequently overturned in Pesce v. Department of Alcohol Beverage Control 51 Cal. 2d 310, 333 P.2d 15, 17 (1958). However, neither the Pesce case, nor any other case of which Respondent is aware, questioned the policy and language of the Hollywood Circle case cited above.

limit for notice of appeal from an administrative determination provided for in the Illinois Administrative Review Act was jurisdictional, that parties could not stipulate otherwise, and that the appellant's complaint, filed beyond that time limit, could not be heard. In Williams v. City of Kirkwood, 537 S.W. 2d 571 (Mo.App., 1976), where the plaintiffs were not allowed judicial review of the administrative granting of a permit because they failed to comply with a thirty-day filing requirement, the court approvingly cited the following language:

The right of appeal is purely statutory and courts may not enlarge the period in which notice is required. Such timely notice is a prerequisite to jurisdiction. Id. at 574-5, citing Lafayette Federal Savings & Loan Association of Greater St. Louis v. Koontz, 516 S.W. 2d 502, 504 (Mo.App. 1974).

Thus, numerous cases in this and other jurisdictions have recognized that courts may not assume appellate jurisdiction, where jurisdictional requirements set out by statute have not been complied with. Similarly, in the present case, the right to appeal from a determination of the Utah Transportation Commission is statutory and precisely the same result should obtain. Appellant has cited no authority from this jurisdiction or any other in which an appeal from an administrative hearing has been allowed where the appealing party failed to fulfill the jurisdictional requirements of the

statute which created the right of appeal. Nor has Appellant suggested any other valid reason why the clear requirement of U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 that notice be filed within thirty days of the Commission's decision should be disregarded.

Appellant argues that the thirty-day period should begin upon notice, despite the clear statutory directive of U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 that the period begins at the time of the Commission's decision. Appellant concedes that "Appellant's appeal would have been late" if the language of U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 means what it says (Appellant's Brief, page 3), but attempts to circumvent this by applying Rule 73(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to this case by means of the Commission's purported adoption by regulation of Rule 81(d). This argument is specious for a number of reasons: (1) Utah Transportation Department Regulation A-88-30-1:14c, cited by Appellant, applies only to the filing of the notice of appeal with the Commission, not with the District Court. The regulation also expressly reaffirms the statutory mandate that notice to the Commission shall be made within thirty days of the decision. (2) Rule 81(d) states that provisions of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure apply in appealing from any order of an administrative agency, "except insofar as the specific statutory procedure in connection with any such appeal...is in conflict or inconsistent with these Rules." (emphasis added). Even

assuming arguendo that the Rules of Civil Procedure would allow thirty days from the day of notice for an appeal to be filed, this would be inconsistent with U.C.A. 27-12-136.9, and therefore would not apply. (3) Further assuming arguendo that the Commission regulation may somehow be construed as allowing notice of appeal to be filed within thirty days after the notice of decision is received, such a regulation would be contrary to statute and would therefore be void. Furthermore, no regulation of the Utah Transportation Commission could have the effect of granting or withholding appellate jurisdiction to a District Court in contravention of statutory prerequisites, nor does this regulation purport to do so.

Appellant indicates in its Brief that, in Respondent's memorandum to the District Court, "it is conceded that where the Rules of Civil Procedure do apply, that Rule 73(h) is that rule..." (Appellant's Brief, page 4). This is not strictly accurate. Respondent's basic argument in its earlier memorandum, as in this Brief, was that U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 sets the time in which an appeal of this kind may be taken, and that no Rule of Civil Procedure supercedes that statutory limit. Respondent merely argued that Rule 73(h) would be more apposite than Rule 73(a) as to the question of Appellant's alleged excusable neglect, "even assuming arguendo that some one of the Rules of Civil Procedure applies in this situation...." (Memorandum in

support of Plaintiff-Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, page 4).

Finally, Appellant in its Brief states that "it is entirely possible" that a so-called restrictive reading of U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 may at some time result in an individual's not being advised of the Commission's decision until his right to appeal had run. That, however, is not the case currently before this Court. Respondent avers and the District Court agreed, that notice of the decision was given to Appellant well within the thirty-day limit, and that Appellant could have filed a timely notice of appeal upon the exercise of reasonable diligence. Respondent respectfully submits that this Court must rule on the basis of the facts before it, not on the basis of the uncertain and totally speculative eventuality posited by Appellant.

In short, Appellant failed to meet the jurisdictional prerequisite of filing a notice of appeal "within thirty days of the Commission's decision," U.C.A. 27-12-136.9, and therefore the District Court was correct in dismissing the Appeal.

POINT II

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT APPELLANT'S APPEAL IS NOT BARRED, APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A TRIAL DE NOVO IN THE MATTER.

In its Notice of Appeal, Appellant requested that the District Court grant a trail de novo in the matter. In paragraph 2 of its motion to dismiss, Respondent requested

that the District Court issue an order that Appellant was not entitled to a trial de novo, in the event that the appeal was not barred. Counsel for Respondent argued the point at the District Court hearing on the Motion to Dismiss. In its Memorandum Decision granting the Motion to Dismiss, the District Court made "no ruling as to whether or not under a proper case a trial de novo should not be ordered." Nevertheless, in the event that this Court finds that Appellant's appeal is not barred, and in the interest of judicial economy, Respondent respectfully prays this Court to rule that Appellant is not entitled to a trial de novo.

U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 states that the District Court shall sustain the decision of the commission if it is supported by substantial evidence as shown by the records, exhibits and transcripts. (emphasis added).

Regarding review of a commission decision on illegal outdoor advertising, that section also states:

The commission shall forward its records, exhibits and transcripts to the district court having jurisdiction within 30 days after receiving notice of such appeal.

U.C.A. 27-12-136.9 clearly contemplates only appellate review of the records, exhibits, and transcripts of the administrative hearing, and not a trial de novo by the District Court. In light of the statutory language, Respondent submits that such a ruling would be proper for guidance of the District

Court on remand, if this Court finds the appeal to have been improperly barred by the District Court.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has failed to meet the thirty-day jurisdictional requirement of U.C.A. 27-12-136.9, and has suggested no valid reason why the requirement should be ignored in this case, or why, in the event an appeal were granted, Appellant would be entitled to a trial de novo. Respondent therefore prays that the order of the District Court dismissing Appellant's appeal be affirmed, or if it is not affirmed, that this Court issue a ruling that Appellant is not entitled to a trial de novo.